## Elements of Governance®

Providing CEOs, board chairs, directors, and support staff with the fundamentals of healthcare governance

A SERIES BY THE GOVERNANCE INSTITUTE

## Planning for Future Board Leadership

Second Edition







#### The Governance Institute®

The essential resource for governance knowledge and solutions®

1245 Q Street, Lincoln, NE 68508 (877) 712-8778 GovernanceInstitute.com

## Elements of Governance®

A SERIES BY THE GOVERNANCE INSTITUTE

Elements of Governance<sup>®</sup> is designed to provide CEOs, board chairs, directors, and support staff with the fundamentals of not-for-profit governance. These comprehensive and concise governance guides offer quick answers, guidelines, and templates that can be adapted to meet your board's individual needs. Whether you are a new or experienced leader, the *Elements of Governance*<sup>®</sup> series will help supply you and your board with a solid foundation for quality board work.

## About the Authors

The following people served as authors for the first edition of this publication:

Pamela R. Knecht, President of ACCORD LIMITED, has provided consulting services to a wide range of industries and organizations over her 35-year career. She focuses on assisting the boards and CEOs of not-for-profit hospitals, health systems, and physician groups with governance assessment, restructuring, and development; board education and retreats; strategic planning; organizational diagnosis and change management; team effectiveness; physician–hospital collaboration; and merger/affiliation facilitation.

**Sean Patrick Murphy, Esq.**, former Senior Vice President and Corporate General Counsel for JFK Health System, spent his entire career in hospital and healthcare administration and health law. His expertise includes corporate law and healthcare governance, compliance and business ethics, medical ethics, physician integration, and healthcare policy. Prior to becoming an attorney he was a healthcare administrator and commissioned officer (Captain) in the U.S. Air Force Medical Service Corps.

For this second edition, additional material has been added from Governance Institute publications by Lawrence R. Prybil, Ph.D., FACHE, Norton Professor in Healthcare Leadership (retired), College of Public Health, University of Kentucky.

## The Governance Institute

The Governance Institute provides trusted, independent information, resources, tools, and solutions to board members, healthcare executives, and physician leaders in support of their efforts to lead and govern their organizations.

The Governance Institute is a membership organization serving not-for-profit hospital and health system boards of directors, executives, and physician leadership. Membership services are provided through research and publications, conferences, and advisory services. In addition to its membership services, The Governance Institute conducts research studies, tracks healthcare industry trends, and showcases governance practices of leading healthcare boards across the country.



## The Governance Institute®

The essential resource for governance knowledge and solutions® 1245 Q Street, Lincoln, NE 68508 (877) 712-8778

- GovernanceInstitute.com
- in /The Governance Institute
- /thegovinstitute

Stephen W. Kett Chief Executive Officer
Cynthia Ballow Vice President, Operations
Kathryn C. Peisert Editor in Chief & Senior Director
Glenn Kramer Creative Director
Kayla Wagner Senior Editor
Aliya Flores Editor
Laura Simmons Assistant Editor

he Governance Institute is a service of NRC Health. Leading in the field of healthcare governance since 1986, The Governance Institute provides education and information services to hospital and health system boards of directors across the country. For more information about our services, please call toll free at (877) 712-8778, or visit our Web site at GovernanceInstitute.com.

The Governance Institute endeavors to ensure the accuracy of the information it provides to its members. This publication contains data obtained from multiple sources, and The Governance Institute cannot guarantee the accuracy of the information or its analysis in all cases. The Governance Institute is not involved in representation of clinical, legal, accounting, or other professional services. Its publications should not be construed as professional advice based on any specific set of facts or circumstances. Ideas or opinions expressed remain the responsibility of the named author(s). In regards to matters that involve clinical practice and direct patient treatment, members are advised to consult with their medical staffs and senior management, or other appropriate professionals, prior to implementing any changes based on this publication. The Governance Institute is not responsible for any claims or losses that may arise from any errors or omissions in our publications whether caused by The Governance Institute or its sources.

© 2023 The Governance Institute. All rights reserved. Reproduction of this publication in whole or part is expressly forbidden without prior written consent.

## Table of Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 The Board Leadership Succession Plan: Components
  - 3 Job Descriptions, Skills, and Competencies
  - 4 A Process to Identify and Develop Potential Leaders
  - 5 Board Leader Nomination and Selection Process
  - 6 Initial Board Leader Orientation
  - 6 Annual Board Leader Evaluations and Development
  - 6 Managing Transitions
  - 7 Handling Term Limits and Independence Issues
- 8 Conclusion
- 9 Appendix: Sample Job Description: Board Chairperson

## Introduction

During the last 20 years, there has been more change in the arena of corporate governance than all of the prior years in the history of corporate governance combined. These changes have been and continue to be driven by many forces. Some examples over the last two decades include Sarbanes-Oxley principles being applied to non-profit governance, the IRS' tax-exempt scrutiny and required transparency regarding reporting on the Form 990, the Yates memorandum making individual directors potentially liable for corporate negligence, price transparency reporting requirements, and increasing cybersecurity risks, among many others.

Most recently, boards are facing existential threats compounded by supply chain gaps, labor shortages, and inflation, all of which under a disparaging media environment showcasing stories that place the non-profit healthcare system in the role of "bad guy" focusing more on profit than on patients.<sup>1</sup>

One of the key ongoing concerns regarding transparency is healthcare board members' conflicts of interest. In some cases, those conflicts of interest occur at the very top of the organization—with the board chairperson. The examples in the news are usually the extreme or egregious situations, but we do see an increased awareness and reporting of all types of conflicts of interest.

All of these factors make serving on a board of a hospital or health system much more complex than in years previous, and it raises the bar for those who are actually leading the board (the chair, vice chair, committee chairs, secretary, treasurer, etc.). It also makes recruiting board members with the right skills and the time to serve a daunting challenge. These increased demands on boards and their individual directors require that more attention be paid to recruitment, education, and development of the board. The goal is to develop strong governing boards—high-performing boards—and to ensure that all board activities are beyond reproach. The formal leaders of the board have a critical role to play in creating effective boards and committees.

Very few boards actually have in place a written, board leadership development and succession plan. Strong board leadership is not something that happens by itself. The board must plan for and recruit the talent it needs to bring to its leadership positions.

This *Elements of Governance*<sup>®</sup> outlines the main components of a comprehensive leadership development and succession plan for the board. It includes how to select and develop the people who will ultimately serve in key board leadership positions, and it describes the benefits of creating a formal, rigorous board leadership plan.

<sup>1</sup> See e.g., Amol S. Navathe, "Why Are Nonprofit Hospitals Focused More on Dollars Than Patients," The New York Times, November 30, 2023.

## The Board Leadership Succession Plan: Components

he first step in developing a board leadership succession plan is to create a board-level policy that states the board's expectations regarding this important task. The list below includes the typical elements of such a policy:

- 1. Purpose of the policy
- 2. Responsible board committee (e.g., governance, executive, or nominating committee)
- 3. Positions included (see sidebar below)
- 4. Terms and independence requirements
- 5. Expectations of board leaders (time commitment, responsibilities, etc.)
- Processes (planned and emergency succession), including when the processes will be reviewed and updated

#### Identify and plan for all board leadership positions, such as:

- Board chair
- Board vice chair
- Board secretary
- Board treasurer
- Standing committee chairs
- Standing committee vice chairs

Components of the board leadership succession plan should include:

- Job descriptions for each position (see the Appendix for a sample job description of the board chairperson)
- The skills and competencies needed for each position (these become the selection criteria for new leaders)
- A process to identify and develop potential board leaders
- The board leader nomination and selection process
- A process for further developing board leaders' skills/knowledge
- An evaluation process for assessing board leaders' effectiveness
- A plan for handling transitions from one leader to another

#### **Benefits of Board Leadership Planning**

- Ensures qualified leaders
- Allows for customized, individual development plans
- Prevents a leadership vacuum
- Minimizes interpersonal tensions
- De-politicizes the selection process
- Assures continuation of the culture and institutional memory
- Creates a planned, transparent approach to leadership development and succession
- Increases the likelihood of effective governance

What are some immediate strategic goals and objectives the organization is hoping to achieve in the next two or three years? Going beyond that, what is the vision for the organization in five or 10 years? What kind of board leaders does the organization need to achieve these goals and objectives?

#### **Job Descriptions, Skills, and Competencies**

Each leadership position should have a clear job description that is personalized to your organization. For instance, typically included in the board chairperson's job description is the need to work with the CEO to develop meeting agendas, preside at meetings, facilitate discussions and decision making, help reach consensus, and ensure that all of the various viewpoints are considered.

Beyond the typical responsibilities of the chair, consider what may be appropriate for the unique needs and culture of your organization:

- Should the board chair appoint members of board committees, or provide constructive feedback to other board members about how they are doing?
- What should be the board chair's relationship with the external community, physicians, and other key stakeholders?
- What additional roles should this person play?
- Will the board chair serve on any committees?

Once you have a complete job description, use this as a starting point to develop a list of requirements for someone to hold this position. For example, some organizations require that the board chair serve on the board for three years before moving into the chair position, and/or have chaired an important board committee first. It is also important to consider the requirements related to independence and conflict of interest. The IRS recommends that the board chairperson (and other officers) be independent (e.g., no material financial relationship with the organization, either directly or indirectly through an immediate family member).

The next step is to use the job description and position requirements to create a list of competencies or qualifications that are needed. The board leadership succession plan should ultimately include a description of exactly what criteria,

competencies, skills, and behaviors the board believes its leaders need. Each organization has a unique culture, and the board must determine those skills and experiences that will best help the organization and the board. The view should be both short term and long term: what are some immediate strategic goals and objectives the organization is hoping to achieve in the next two or three years? Going beyond that, what is the vision for the organization in five or 10 years? What kind of board leaders does the organization need to achieve these goals and objectives?

#### Sample Leadership Competencies and Qualifications

#### **Knowledge and Experience:**

- Healthcare industry knowledge
- Understanding of the entire care delivery process
- Fiduciary duties, bylaws, and regulations understanding
- Governance/management distinction awareness
- Executive-level experience in a complex organization
- Service on the board of a large entity
- Business/finance knowledge
- Human resources/organization development knowledge
- Change management expertise
- Risk management expertise
- Consumer-facing/service or hospitality expertise

#### **Personal Characteristics/Behaviors:**

- Strong analytic and strategic thinking skills
- Collaborative leadership style
- Ability to promote teamwork and build consensus
- Good listening and communication skills
- Ability to communicate with and influence others
- Appreciation for perspectives of all stakeholders
- Ability to hold others accountable for achieving goals
- Desire to mentor others
- Ability to inspire people to do their very best
- Interest in continuous learning

#### A Process to Identify and Develop Potential Leaders

Next is to create a process to intentionally identify potential board leaders and develop them. The responsible board committee (e.g., governance committee) should start by identifying current board members who might be good leaders, based on the skills and competencies identified in the previous steps. Next, sit down with those individuals to find out if they have an interest in moving to a leadership position on the board at some point in the future. If so, you can start

to develop a personalized education and development plan for those individuals. Such education and development plans can include the following:

- Require attendance at certain educational conferences and sessions (e.g., potential quality committee chair attends an Institute for Healthcare Improvement program).
- Create targeted developmental experiences (e.g., committee chair experience for potential board chairs).
- Provide access to the leadership resource center/Web site.
- Offer training for leadership roles (e.g., meeting preparation and facilitation).

#### **Board Leader Nomination and Selection Process**

This may be stating the obvious, but a simple first step in this process is to ask the existing board leaders if they are willing and able to serve another leadership term. You can't plan for leadership succession if you don't know when those leadership positions may open up. Additionally, if you are starting a board leadership succession plan for the first time, now is a good time to evaluate current board leaders. Are they fulfilling their responsibilities? Has their attendance and continuing education been satisfactory? Do they have any insurmountable conflicts of interest? Did they score highly on their individual performance evaluation? Has anything changed in their lives recently that might prevent them from continuing to perform at the necessary level in their leadership position? A strong evaluation of current board leaders is important. This should happen on an ongoing basis as part of the leadership succession plan; this is discussed in more detail below.

When it comes time to actually identify and select new board leaders, the governance committee (or responsible committee) should start with its list of open leadership roles and compare that against the list of people available to fill those positions. The pool should include both those individuals who are being developed as leaders, but may not yet be a committee chair or officer, as well as those currently serving as committee chairs or in other similar leadership positions. Compare the competencies and qualifications for each position description. Often you may find that there is a small, core group of board members who are natural leaders—they are ready or able to take the helm.

Once the new leaders are identified, next steps include the responsible committee:

- Determining if the potential leader is/will be ready to assume the leadership position at the needed time
- Asking the potential leader to complete an application for the position
- Discussing all candidates for recommendation
- Meeting confidentially with existing and potential leaders
- Selecting nominees based on a demonstrated record of possessing the specific competencies/qualifications
- Providing a written document of the committee's recommendations to the full board

Finally, this should be a matter for full board discussion. The full board should understand and approve the process for how a board member moves into an officer position, as well as voting on the actual candidates for each position. Transparency of the board leadership selection process is a hallmark of good governance practices.

#### **Initial Board Leader Orientation**

Once your board leaders have been nominated and selected, they will need an orientation before beginning their new roles. The relevant committee should ensure that there is a personalized orientation to fill any gaps in each new leader's *in-depth knowledge* of the following:

- History, mission, vision, values, and strategic plan
- Organizational structure, bylaws, and state laws
- Board policies and procedures
- Meeting agenda and materials preparation
- Meeting management (e.g., facilitation, group dynamics, conflict resolution)
- Communicating with key stakeholders
- Specific knowledge (e.g., debt structure for finance chair)

#### **Annual Board Leader Evaluations and Development**

Like with all board members, board leaders need to be evaluated and provided opportunities to continue to develop and receive education as necessary. Most boards already conduct a full board self-assessment on an annual basis. Many boards are now also conducting individual board member evaluations, which include individual board leader evaluations.

Individual assessments should be taken with care and conducted in a manner that provides constructive criticism without offending the board member or board leader. The information can be delivered in a discreet manner through the governance committee, for example. The board chairperson should be open to being evaluated and ready to accept any necessary changes in order to best perform his or her duties as chair.<sup>2</sup>

The individual leader evaluation should be considered simply a continuation of the process that you began when you were first educating and developing your potential board leaders. What does this individual need to know more about in the context of their new role? Provide board leaders with the opportunity to deepen their knowledge of each of the issues that they need to better understand. Appointment and reappointment to leadership positions on the board should take individual board member evaluations into account.

#### **Managing Transitions**

Part of the board leadership succession plan involves how to handle transitions from one leader to another. When one leader steps down, ideally you have a new person who is ready to step up to the role. The transition plan should clarify expectations of the outgoing leader and the incoming leader during the transition period. For example, what should the outgoing board chair do to help the incoming board chair? If you determine that a short mentoring period is ideal for your board, develop a plan for the board vice chairperson to learn the ropes in an ideal time frame before the board chairperson will step down, with specific steps for how this will be accomplished. The same can be done for other board officer and committee chair positions.

<sup>2</sup> For more detailed information on how to conduct individual board member assessments, refer to Elements of Governance<sup>®</sup>: *Individual Board Member Assessment* (3rd Edition), The Governance Institute, 2015.

#### **Handling Term Limits and Independence Issues**

It is important to plan for and deal with term limits (if your board has term limits) as part of your board leadership succession plan. For example, what happens if the vice chair, who is expected to move into the chair position, is approaching the end of his or her term? The board bylaws should include stipulations or exceptions for term limits where appropriate when dealing with these kinds of situations. Beyond that, be careful when you are selecting new leaders that you are respecting the purpose of term limits, to ensure that one person does not end up dominating board discussions, that there is sufficient new talent being brought on the board at appropriate times, and that the person or persons moving into leadership positions are and continue to be trusted and respected by the rest of the board members. If the term is being extended or renewed in order to fulfill a leadership role, that new leader should be someone who has a good working relationship with the rest of the board, and the remaining board members should agree with the reasons this person is being allowed to extend his or her term.

Having several board members in the leadership pipeline at all times allows for flexibility to choose the right leader to address current challenges. The goal is to allow consistent leadership over time, ensuring that the board leaders elected have served long enough to demonstrate a strong understanding of board and organization function, but not so long that the leadership will be stuck in historical habits and hinder progress.

The question of term limits is very personal and unique to each board's culture. According to Governance Institute data, most boards do use term limits. A typical term for a board member is three years, and most often board members are allowed to serve three consecutive terms for a total of nine years. For board officers, a more typical term would be two years, with one additional term available for a total of four years in that same leadership position. One of the major benefits of having term limits is that it de-personalizes and de-politicizes those difficult times when a director or officer has become disruptive or is no longer fulfilling his or her responsibilities. Another related advantage of having term limits is it allows the board some predictive capacity to identify when there is going to be significant changeover, which is important when planning for board leadership positions. One concern is that there may be times when the more seasoned board members may be leaving at similar times, which diminishes the potential leadership pool. It is important to establish your term limits in such a manner that the board is not faced with too many openings at once.

<sup>3</sup> Think Bold: Looking Forward With a Fresh Governance Mindset, 2023 Biennial Survey of Hospitals and Healthcare Systems, The Governance Institute.

### Conclusion

erving on the board of a hospital or health system is more complex than ever. Strong board leadership is essential. The increased demands on boards and their individual directors from the marketplace, regulatory bodies, healthcare reform, and economic pressures, require more attention to recruitment, education, and development of board members and a focus on board member competencies and qualifications.

A formal board leadership succession plan is an essential and necessary tool for governing boards to recruit and develop talented leaders. Further, this process helps to "set board leaders up for success" from the beginning, before they move into leadership positions on the board. It will help to ensure that your board leaders are engaged and prepared for the work they are doing; it will help to maximize their skills, experience, and time spent on the difficult and complex matters that boards must deal with today.

Board leadership succession planning, by itself, is an important exercise. But it also brings up a few other important governance issues to consider: the increasing challenges of recruiting qualified board members in today's healthcare industry, evaluating current board member performance, and ensuring that board job descriptions are updated, current, and match the organization's culture and unique needs. Without these governance fundamentals in place, planning for strong board leadership will be difficult.

Now is the time to address these issues, so that your board leaders have a good chance to succeed in driving the organization towards its goals. Non-profit hospitals and health systems will need to dig deeper and find candidates not only for the immediate future, but for five to 10 years out. Ideally, the candidate pool needs to include younger people with the qualifications and competencies necessary to govern in this complex environment. It is possible to achieve, though it may seem daunting. Like with most other aspects of healthcare governance, it simply takes intent and thoughtful planning.

The following are some additional resources as you consider your next steps in board leadership succession planning:

Intentional Governance Guide: Board Leadership Succession Planning

**Best Practices in Board Succession Planning** 

Other board officer job descriptions

# Appendix: Sample Job Description: Board Chairperson

n a single phrase, the role of the board chairperson is to be the *keeper of governance integrity*. Governance integrity resides with the board, as does governance authority. The board's role must be defined first; the chair's role flows from that of the board. It is the chairperson, nevertheless, who leads the process that results in high-performance governance.

All position descriptions must be customized to reflect the organization's bylaws, policies, and culture.

#### Responsibilities

#### Leadership

- Keep the mission of the organization at the forefront and articulate it as the basis for all board action.
- Propose board goals and objectives and translate them into annual work plans.

#### **Role Clarification**

- Understand and communicate the roles and functions of the board, committees, medical staff, and management.
- Understand and communicate individual board member, board leader, and committee chair responsibilities and accountability.

#### Liaison

- Build cohesion among the leadership team of the board chair, CEO, and medical staff leaders.
- Act as a liaison between and among other boards in the healthcare organization.
- Represent the organization at official functions and be the board's spokesperson to the media.

#### Meetings

- Plan agendas and meetings for board and executive committee(s) (if an executive committee exists).
- Preside over the meetings of the board and the executive committee.
- Preside over or attend other board, medical staff, and other organization meetings.
- Facilitate discussions and decision making, ensuring all viewpoints are considered and clear decisions are reached.

#### **Board Conduct**

- Enforce board and hospital bylaws, rules, and regulations (such as conflict-ofinterest and confidentiality policies).
- Set a high standard for board conduct by modeling rules of conduct in board bylaws and policies.

#### **Committees**

- Appoint board committee chairs and members in a consistent and systematic approach.
- Work with committee chairs to encourage effective disposition of responsibilities.
- Direct the committees of the board, ensuring that the committee work plans flow from and support the hospital and board goals, objectives, and work plans.

#### Education

- Ensure new board members receive comprehensive orientation.
- Mentor the chair-elect, other board leaders, and new board members as appropriate.
- Support and arrange continuing education for the board.

#### **CEO Evaluation**

• Lead the CEO compensation review and performance evaluation process.

#### **Self-Evaluation and Annual Goal Setting**

- Ensure effective board self-evaluation and annual goal setting.
- Ensure committees conduct self-evaluations and annual goalsetting.
- Seek feedback on personal performance as chair.

#### **Succession Planning**

• Plan for board leadership succession.

#### **Additional Roles**

- Serves as a voting member of the board
- Serves as an ex-officio voting member of all committees
- Requirements:
  - » Minimum of three years service on the board
  - » Served at least one year as one of the other board officers (vice chair does not automatically succeed to chair)
  - » Chaired the finance committee
  - » Independent, according to the IRS Form 990 definition
- Term: two years, and eligible to then serve one additional term, if elected